FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/10/2019 3:10 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/17/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>97664-3</u> Court of Appeals No. 51125-8-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEAN M. WALSH,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant,

v.

KATHRYN L. REYNOLDS,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Barbara A. Henderson, WSBA No. 16175 Robert E. Mack, WSBA No. 6225 SMITH ALLING, P.S. Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant JEAN M. WALSH

1501 Dock Street Tacoma, Washington 98402 Telephone: (253) 627-1091 Facsimile: (253) 627-0123

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jean Walsh and Kathryn Reynolds are two women who began living together in California in 1988. Dr. Walsh, an established surgeon, separately owned a residence and medical practice. At Ms. Reynolds' suggestion, Ms. Reynolds assumed the tasks previously performed by Dr. Walsh's housekeeper, and was compensated at an equal or greater scale than the prior housekeeper. Ms. Reynolds reported this as income to the Internal Revenue Service, and also established a SEP IRA related to this income. Up until September 2011, when temporary orders were issued, Dr. Walsh had paid Ms. Reynolds over \$500,000 as wages. Dr. Walsh also paid substantially all household and child expenses.

Dr. Walsh gave birth to the parties' first two children, in 1992 and 1996. The relationship ceased to be intimate in 1994. In 1998, Ms. Reynolds had a child. Each child was cross-adopted by the non-birth mother. Neither was the birth coach for the other. 2016 RP 91. In assessing this relationship, the trial court found "the parties continued to cohabit for the purpose of raising their children, not for the purpose of sharing an intimate relationship with each other. At its core, that is not a marital-like relationship." 2017 FF 7B, CP 639.

The parties kept all finances separate. At no time did they acquire any joint accounts or debts. On the few occasions they intended to jointly own items, that property was jointly titled.¹

Dr. Walsh and Ms. Reynolds never married. Same-sex marriage was not legally recognized in California during their residence there and was barred in Washington during their residence here. The parties first registered as domestic partners in California in March 2000—but for significantly limited purposes. The California registration statute specifically disclaimed creating any interest in "rights similar to community property or quasi-community property." 2012 FF 5, CP 367.

In June 2000, the family moved to Washington. Effective January 1, 2005, California legislatively expanded its domestic partnership law to include future acquisition of community property rights. The legislation also allowed registered parties to opt out of the expanded features. As of that date, the parties were residing in Washington, and received no direct notice of the statute. CP 368.

The trial court found by "clear, cogent and convincing evidence" that the parties

formed "an agreement for each party to acquire and maintain separate property." CP 748. Walsh II nonetheless includes a remand instruction for further consideration of "whether the parties had an agreement to maintain separate property." App. A-33.

The parties registered as domestic partners in Washington in August 2009—again for limited purposes. The 2008 domestic partnership statute then in effect provided: "Any community property rights of domestic partners ... shall apply" from June 12, 2008, or a later date. RCW 26.60.080. The parties separated seven months later. CP 369.

The first trial was held in July 2012, with the Decree of Dissolution entered on November 6, 2012. The trial court determined January 1, 2005, as the start date of the parties' committed intimate relationship, choosing the effective date of California's expanded domestic partnership law. The trial court found that there was no legal basis for finding an earlier equitable relationship without violating the constitutional rights of the parties. Both parties appealed, resulting in a published decision dated September 30, 2014. Walsh v. Reynolds, 183 Wn. App. 830, 335 P.3d 184 (2014), rev. denied, 182 Wn.2d 1017 (2015) ("Walsh I"). A second trial was held in June 2016, with Findings and Conclusions entered November 22, 2017. The court found by "clear, cogent and convincing evidence" that, even had a CIR commenced in 1988, the parties agreed to, and did, maintain separate property throughout the duration of their relationship. App. A-28, CP 748. Again, both parties appealed, resulting in the opinion from which Dr. Walsh now seeks review.

In Walsh II, the Court of Appeals did not specify which, if any, of the trial court's 2017 Findings and Conclusions it upheld or overturned.² It nonetheless opined that proper characterization of property was a necessary prerequisite to enforceability of the parties' separate property agreement, and thus ignored the trial court's determination that the agreement was effective for the duration of the parties' relationship, which began in 1988. That error alone supports review.

E. ARGUMENT

I. The Decision Below Violates The U.S. Constitution.

In Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc. v. Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 560 U.S. 702 (2010), six Justices agreed that state court decisions that "declare[] that what was once an established right of private property no longer exists," id. at 715 (plurality op.), or otherwise "eliminate[] an established property right," id. at 735 (Kennedy, J., concurring in part and concurring in the judgment), violate the U.S. Constitution. Justice Scalia, joined by Chief Justice Roberts, Justice Thomas, and Justice Alito, located the source of that right in the Takings Clause. See id. at 715-28 (plurality op.). Justice Kennedy, joined

² Although Walsh I states that neither party raised a due process argument on appeal (fn. 23), Walsh II found the Walsh constitutional arguments before the Court. App. A-23.

by Justice Sotomayor, located it in the Due Process Clause ("nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law," U.S. Const. amend. IV, § 1). See id. at 735-36 (Kennedy, J., concurring in part and concurring in the judgment).

Despite the fractured opinions, the import of *Stop the Beach* is clear: "[T]he U.S. Constitution ... protect[s] against judicial redefinition of property rights" that results in private property being taken from an individual in unexpected ways. Josh Patashnik, *Bringing a Judicial Takings Claim*, 64 STAN. L. REV. 255, 256 (2012). The decision below refused to give effect to that clear constitutional imperative.

A. The Decision Below Violates the Takings Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

The Court of Appeals offered a single and incorrect reason for "reject[ing] Walsh's argument" that stripping her of her property "constituted an unconstitutional taking under federal law": "[t]here [is] no federally recognized judicial takings doctrine." App. A-24.

To be sure, "a majority of the United States Supreme Court did not hold that such a cause of action was available" in *Stop the Beach*.

Jonna Corp. v. City of Sunnyvale, 2017 WL 2617983, at *6 (N.D. Cal. June 16, 2017). But Stop the Beach "did not create" the judicial takings doctrine; "the theory of judicial takings existed prior to 2010." Smith v.

United States, 709 F.3d 1114, 1117 (Fed. Cir. 2013). The text of the Takings Clause alone makes that proposition obvious: "nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation." U.S. Const. amend. V; see Chicago, B. & Q.R. Co. v. Chicago, 166 U.S. 226 (1897) (Takings Clause applicable to states). Unlike the Ex Post Facto Clauses, see U.S. Const. Art. I, § 9, cl. 3; id. § 10, cl. 1, the Takings Clause "is not addressed to the action of a specific branch or branches." Stop the Beach, 560 U.S. at 713 (plurality op.). "It is concerned simply with the act, and not with the governmental actor ('nor shall private property be taken')." Id. at 713-14. As such, it "would be absurd to allow a State to do by judicial decree what the Takings Clause forbids it to do by legislative fiat." Id. at 714.

There can be no question that, if the Washington Legislature enacted a statute that had the effect of "transferring her property" from Dr. Walsh to Ms. Reynolds, App. A-24, that statute would be unconstitutional. See Kelo v. City of New London, 545 U.S. 469, 477 (2005) ("it has long been accepted that the sovereign may not take the property of [one person] for the sole purpose of transferring it to another private party"); Calder v. Bull, 3 U.S. (3 Dall.) 386, 388 (1798) ("a law that takes property from A and gives it to B," no less than "a law that makes a man a Judge in his own cause," would be "contrary to the great

first principles" that underlie the U.S. Constitution). No doubt that is why the Legislature, in granting community property rights to same-sex domestic partners in 2008, explicitly declared that those rights would apply *prospectively only*: from the date of the partners' initial registration or June 12, 2008, whichever was later. RCW 26.60.080.

In this regard, a judicial decision that retroactively redefines property via application of a common-law doctrine, and then orders a forced transfer of the redefined property, is no different from a statute for purposes of constitutional analysis. Just like applying the new statutory community-property regime to property previously acquired would have violated the Takings Clause, applying a common-law doctrine to strip a person of her title to personal property to give it to another person results in a similar violation of the constitutional prohibition.

Yet, rather than follow *Stop the Beach* to its logical conclusion, the Court of Appeals demurred based on a concern that "extend[ing] the takings doctrine in such a manner would seemingly call many common law equitable doctrines into question." App. A-24. But, if a common law doctrine violates a constitutional right, it should not only be called into question, it should be revoked.

Even if the Court of Appeals' concern were warranted, it would not be a reason to disregard the supreme law of the land. In all events, the concern is manifestly unjustified. The Court of Appeals' rejection of Dr. Walsh's federal takings claim is contrary to Supreme Court precedent, the judgment of the Legislature, and basic common sense.

B. The Decision Below Violates Due Process.

The Court of Appeals' additional conclusion, that retroactively redefining Dr. Walsh's separate property as property subject to equitable redistribution did not violate the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause, was equally flawed.

Dr. Walsh argued that "she could not have reasonably expected that" the separate property she acquired in California before she moved to Washington, and which she scrupulously kept separate, "would someday be subject to equitable distribution under Washington common law." App. A-25. Rather than contesting that conclusion, the Court of Appeals held that *it did not matter* that Dr. Walsh could not have expected that her assets would be taken from her at the end of the relationship, because "due process does not prevent application of changes in the common law where no party's vested rights are affected." App. A-27. As such, the court held that Dr. Walsh had no "more than a "mere expectation' that distribution of assets upon termination of [her]

relationship would be governed by" a non-community-property-like regime. App. A-26.

That is wrong both in law and logic. This conclusion is legally erroneous for a simple reason: The Due Process Clause protects more than just vested rights; it protects "a broad range of [property] interests." *Perry v. Sindermann*, 408 U.S. 593, 601 (1972). Consider an entitlement to benefits. Even though an individual does not hold title to a government benefit that she has not yet received, "[a] person's interest in a benefit is a 'property' interest for due process purposes" so long as the person's "claim of entitlement to the benefit" is based on extant property-law "rules or mutually explicit understandings." *Id.* That rule is not unique to government benefits. To the contrary, the Due Process Clause protects *all* "property' interests ... that are secured by 'existing rules or understandings." *Id.* (quoting *Bd. of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 577 (1972)).

There can be no question here that the "rules or understandings" in place when Dr. Walsh acquired her property in California secured to her full and unassailable title to her own real and personal property. See App. A-27 (recognizing that California law "control[s] the character of the property acquired before the parties moved to Washington"). When Dr. Walsh and Ms. Reynolds began dating, all jurisdictions in the world

barred same-sex marriage, making the benefits and burdens of marriage unavailable. Even community-property-like regimes were entirely unavailable to same-sex couples in 1988.

Indeed, "[u]ntil the mid-20th century, same-sex intimacy long had been condemned as immoral by the state itself in most Western nations, a belief often embodied in the criminal law." *Obergefell v. Hodges*, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 2596 (2015). Discriminatory laws persisted, moreover, years after the parties' final separation. RCW 26.04.010, defining marriage as "between a man and a woman," was not effectively repealed until November 6, 2012. The expectation that Dr. Walsh and Ms. Reynolds' relationship, which at its inception was potentially grounds for criminal punishment, would someday be the basis for imposition of a marriage-like property regime, was not realistic at the time. To pretend that these parties could and should have known their property would be distributed as if they had all along been "just like" an opposite-sex couple denies that reality.

That they lived in two of the most progressive states in the nation for most of the duration of their relationship does not change that. If anything, it confirms the absurdity of ascribing to Dr. Walsh no more than a "mere expectation" that she and her property would not be subject to the rules of a marriage-like regime. For the first decade of their

relationship, California extended no formal recognition to same-sex partners at all. And, even once California enacted its Domestic Partnership Act, it "gave registered domestic partners only limited rights," which included little more than "hospital visitation privileges ... and health benefits." Perry v. Brown, 671 F.3d 1052, 1065 (9th Cir. 2012) (emphasis added), vacated and remanded sub nom. Hollingsworth v. Perry, 570 U.S. 693 (2013). California did not extend community property rights to same-sex partners until 2005. See Cal. Stats. 2003, ch. 421, § 4 (codified at Cal. Fam. Code § 297.5(a)); see also In re Marriage Cases, 183 P.3d 384, 413-15 (Cal. 2008) (summarizing legislative developments). In so doing, California statutorily provided a mechanism for parties to opt out of the expanded provisions applicable to same-sex domestic partners. Dr. Walsh thus had no capacity to expect—let alone obligation to assume—that a court might one day order a forced transfer of her private property to Ms. Reynolds.

Crucially, the Court of Appeals did not conclude otherwise. Nor could it have: historical facts are not subject to being rewritten by judicial fiat. Instead, the court relied on the fact that, "[b]y the time Walsh and Reynolds made the choice to move to Washington, it was already well established here that community-like property principles applied to 'stable, marital-like relationship[s] where both parties cohabit with

knowledge that a lawful marriage between them does not exist." App. A-26 (alteration in original) (quoting *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339, 346, 898 P.2d 831, 834 (Wash. 1995)). There are two obvious problems with that conclusion: (1) "these parties intentionally chose not to engage in a 'marital-like' relationship with regard to property and debt acquisition" (2017 FF 8, CP 629), and (2) it was *not* "established here"—or anywhere else, for that matter—"that community-like property principles applied" to same-sex relationships at any relevant point. At the time they moved to Washington, no Washington court had yet held that same-sex couples could enjoy the benefit or be subject to the burdens of a community-property-like regime via the CIR doctrine. Indeed, even the Court of Appeals recognized as much. App. A-26 through 27.

The court was equally wrong to conclude that Dr. Walsh had no vested rights to her property. A vested right is "[a] right that so completely and definitely belongs to a person that it cannot be impaired or taken away without the person's consent." Black's Law Dictionary

³ That is why the court was wrong to conclude that Dr. Walsh had no "more than a 'mere expectation" that her property would stay hers. App. A-26. In short, Dr. Walsh's *personal* interest in her *personal* property constituted "property secured by 'existing rules or understandings," and thus protected by the Constitution. *Perry*, 408 U.S. at 601 (quoting *Roth*, 408 U.S. at 577).

(11th ed. 2019). The Court of Appeals itself has defined a "vested right" as one that is "more than mere expectation based upon an anticipated continuance of the existing law[s]; it must have become a title, legal or equitable, to the present in future enjoyment of property, a demand, or a legal exemption from a demand by another." *Dragonslayer, Inc. v. Wash. State Gambling Comm'n*, 139 Wn. App. 433, 449 (2007) (citations omitted); see SEIU Local 925 v. Dep't of Early Learning, 5 Wn. App. 2d. 1016 (2018) (unpublished) (citing *Dragonslayer* with approval). Here, no jurisdiction in the country afforded same-sex couples truly equal rights—and, more to the point, no jurisdiction in the country afforded same-sex couples the opportunity to share in the benefits and burdens of a community-property-like regime—at the time the parties registered as domestic partners in California. To say that Dr. Walsh lacked a vested right in her separate property is thus to disregard reality.

⁴ See also Merriam-Webster (defining "vested right" as "a right belonging completely and unconditionally to a person as a property interest which cannot be impaired or taken away (as through retroactive legislation) without the consent of the owner"), https://bit.ly/2Pjjyx1 (last visited Aug. 19, 2019).

⁵ That Dr. Walsh had a settled, vested right in her personal property is further confirmed by the fact that she and Ms. Reynolds chose to maintain entirely separate financial lives. They kept separate bank accounts; they did not assume the liabilities of each other's financial obligations; and their primary means of exchanging money was through an employer-employee relationship that was nothing like the normal commingling of marital funds. See App. A-2 through 3. As such, even under the crabbed view of the Due Process Clause that the Court of Appeals espoused below, Dr. Walsh still had a protected property interest within the meaning of the Due Process Clause to all of her property, except for the Federal Way house, titled as tenants in common, and a jointly titled vehicle.

It also would raise profound tensions with the Equal Protection Clause. The Court of Appeals held that "the committed intimate relationship doctrine treats same sex and opposite sex couples the same." App. A-27. That may be true today, but today is not the relevant time frame. Characterization of property as separate or community is determined as of the date of acquisition. *In re Marriage of Gillespie*, 89 Wn. App. 390, 394 (1997). Again, even the court below recognized that the CIR doctrine did *not* reach same-sex couples when the parties moved to Washington. The decision below thus rewrites history in a way that retroactively imposes the financial burdens of a marriage-like regime on parties who were barred from obtaining the benefits of marriage. That result cannot be reconciled with basic principles of constitutional law.

II. The Decision Below Violates The Washington Constitution As Well.

The related Federal and State constitutional provisions are generally interpreted similarly, although there are instances where the State provisions can be interpreted as "extending broader rights to its citizens." *See State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wn.2d 54, 61, 720 P.2d 808 (1986).

The Washington Constitution contains a Takings Clause similar to that of the U.S. Constitution. *See* Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 16 (amend. 9) ("No private property shall be taken or damaged for public or private

use without just compensation having been first made."). As the Court of Appeals recognized, this Court "recognized a judicial taking" doctrine in encroachment cases in *Tyree v. Gosa*, 11 Wn.2d 572, 119 P.2d 926 (Wash. 1941). App. A-25. The court nevertheless concluded that because no "Washington court has found a court-ordered equitable distribution of property to constitute a 'taking," it need not apply the Clause to the present situation. App. A-25. That is not how constitutional law works.

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