FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/9/2019 1:23 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97664-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Domestic Partnership of:

JEAN M. WALSH,

Petitioner,

and

KATHRYN L. REYNOLDS,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE AREND

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

A.	Introduction		
B.	Restatement of Facts.		
C.	Why This Court Should Deny Review		
	1.	Walsh has no constitutionally-protected right to separate property on dissolution of the parties' domestic partnership, or that prohibits consideration of Reynolds' equitable interest in property acquired during their relationship.	
	2.	The Washington Constitution would not require a different result and this issue has not been preserved for review	
	3.	No "procedural defect" in Reynolds' assignments of error provides a basis for review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion.	
D.	Reyn	olds is Entitled to Fees Under RAP 18.1(j)12	
E.	Conc	lusion13	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s) FEDERAL CASES
Obergefell v. Hodges, U.S, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 192 L. Ed. 2d 609 (2015)10
Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc. v. Florida Dep't of Environmental Protection, 560 U.S. 702, 130 S. Ct. 2592, 177 L. Ed. 2d 184 (2010)
STATE CASES
Connell v. Francisco, 127 Wn.2d 339, 898 P.2d 831 (1995)
Creasman v. Boyle, 31 Wn.2d 345, 196 P.2d 835 (1948)9-10
Godfrey v. State, 84 Wn.2d 959, 530 P.2d 630 (1975)9
Gormley v. Robertson, 120 Wn. App. 31, 83 P.3d 1042 (2004)
Green River Community College, Dist. No. 10 v. Higher Educ. Pers. Bd., 107 Wn.2d 427, 730 P.2d 653 (1986)12
Guimont v. Clarke, 121 Wn.2d 586, 854 P.2d 1 (1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1176 (1994)11
Marriage of Bodine, 34 Wn.2d 33, 207 P.3d 1213 (1949)6
Marriage of Larson & Calhoun, 178 Wn. App. 133, 313 P.3d 1228 (2013), rev. denied, 180 Wn.2d 1011 (2014)

Marriage of Lindsey, 101 Wn.2d 299, 678 P.2d 328 (1984) 5, 7, 9-10
<i>Marriage of MacDonald,</i> 104 Wn.2d 745, 709 P.2d 1196 (1985)5-7
Marriage of Mueller, 140 Wn. App. 498, 167 P.3d 568 (2007), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1043 (2008)4
Relationship of Long/Fregeau, 158 Wn. App. 919, 244 P.3d 26 (2010)8
Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. Smitch, 87 Wn. App. 27, 940 P.2d 274 (1997)11
Vasquez v. Hawthorne, 145 Wn.2d 103, 33 P.3d 735 (2001), reversing 99 Wn. App. 363, 994 P.2d 240 (2000)7, 10
Walsh v. Reynolds, 183 Wn. App. 830, 335 P.3d 984 (2014), rev. denied, 182 Wn.2d 1017 (2015)1-3
STATUTES
RCW 26.09.0805
RCW 26.09.14012
RCW 26.60.0153
RULES AND REGULATIONS
RAP 18.1 1, 12-13
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. amend. V6-7
U.S. Const. amend. XIV9
Wash, Const. Art. 1, § 16

A. Introduction.

Dr. Jean Walsh for the second time petitions this Court for review, of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion rejecting for the second time her efforts to deny an equitable share of the parties' assets in the dissolution of her domestic partnership to respondent Kathryn Reynolds, with whom she raised three children during a 23-year cohabitation. Walsh v. Reynolds, 183 Wn. App. 830, 335 P.3d 984 (2014), rev. denied, 182 Wn.2d 1017 (2015), after remand, 9 Wn. App. 2d 1041, 2019 WL 2597785 (2019) ("Op."). This Court should deny review of Division Two's unpublished opinion and grant Reynolds her fees pursuant to RAP 18.1(j).

B. Restatement of Facts.

Division Two has already considered this matter twice. Its opinions (the first published, the second (from which Walsh now seeks review), unpublished and non-precedential) set out the facts and the procedural history relevant to Division Two's remand of this action dissolving the parties' registered domestic partnership to a different judge to determine when, prior to 2005, the parties' committed intimate relationship began, to characterize the parties' property (applying the presumption that property acquired during their committed intimate relationship was community-like in nature,

regardless of their inability to marry during much of their 23-year relationship), and to distribute the property. (Op. 2)

The parties separated and this litigation began in 2010, when Walsh petitioned for dissolution of the parties' domestic partnership (which had first been registered in California in 2000, and then again in Washington), asserting "[t]here is community and separate property owned by the parties. The court should make a fair and equitable division of all the property." (Ex. 109, ¶ 1.9) After a 3-day trial, the trial court entered a decree dissolving the parties' domestic partnership on November 5, 2012, holding as a matter of law that the parties' committed intimate relationship could not have begun until 2005, when California amended its domestic partnership law to provide that registered domestic partners would have the same protections and rights as married spouses. 183 Wn. App. at 839, ¶¶ 16, 17, fn. 5.

Walsh appealed, arguing (as she does in this petition for review) that the parties could not have acquired community-like property before they could register as domestic partners in Washington in 2009. 183 Wn. App. at 840, ¶ 20. Reynolds cross-appealed, because the trial court had recognized that if the parties were heterosexual, it "would not hesitate" to find that their

committed intimate relationship had begun in 1988, when they first began cohabiting. 183 Wn. App. at 839, 841, ¶¶ 16, 21.

In its published 2015 decision, Division Two rejected Walsh's appeal and reversed on Reynold's cross-appeal, holding that "the findings of fact and the record do not support the trial court's legal conclusion that the parties' 'equity relationship' began no earlier than 2005." 183 Wn. App. at 851, ¶ 42. Division Two remanded to the same trial judge, but directed the trial court on remand to reconsider when *before* 2005 the parties' equity relationship started, and its distribution of property based on the true length of their committed relationship, 183 Wn. App. at 852-53, ¶ 45, holding that the parties' 2000 registration of their domestic partnership in California was "an unimpeachable indicator of the intended nature of their relationship." 183 Wn. App. at 848, ¶ 35.

¹ The parties had begun living together in California in 1988, exchanging rings in a ceremony. (RP 49, 75, 216-17; Op. 2) They had three children (each adopting the other's biological child), for whom Reynolds was the stay-at-home caregiver (RP 55, 57, 60, 64, 83; Op. 2-3), registered as domestic partners in California in March 2000 (Op. 3-4), participated in a marriage ceremony in Oregon in 2004 (RP 106), and registered as domestic partners in Washington in 2009, days after the Washington Legislature amended its domestic partnership law to ensure that domestic partners are "treated the same as married spouses." (Op. 5; RCW 26.60.015)

After this Court denied Walsh's petition for review (striking her reply in support of review), the trial court finally held a hearing on remand in June 2016, taking (over Reynolds' objection) an additional two days of testimony.² (Op. 7) In findings virtually identical to those it had entered in 2012, the trial court refused to follow the law of the case in Division Two's first published opinion (Op. 16-18), instead concluding that the parties were *never* in a committed intimate relationship (Op. 7-8) and that treating property acquired during their relationship as community-like would be unconstitutional because of Walsh's "expectation" that the property she had titled in her name would remain "hers," and indivisible. (Op. 7, 30)

² As set out in Appendix D to Reynolds' opening merits brief in this appeal, the evidence taken in 2016 was virtually the same as that taken in 2012, with the exception of testimony about the current condition of one of the parties' three children and Reynold's post-decree relationship with another woman. Although inconsistent with her claim to "vested property rights" because she could not have had any expectation that Reynolds could have any interest in "her" assets when they could not marry, Walsh makes much of the parties' supposed oral "agreement" to hold property separately. In reality, the parties' testimony in both trials was to a financial relationship little different than that in any heterosexual relationship in which the party (usually the man) who earns the money, controls the money, see, e.g., Marriage of Mueller, 140 Wn. App. 498, 167 P.3d 568 (2007), rev. denied, 163 Wn.2d 1043 (2008) (discussed Reynolds Reply Br. 39-40) - the only exception being that Walsh here would have been able to attribute to Reynolds income that would otherwise have been taxed at Walsh's far higher marginal rate.

On Reynolds' appeal, Division Two once again reversed, remanding to a different trial court judge "for the purpose of determining the appropriate pre-2005 start date for the parties' committed intimate relationship and characterizing their property for distribution." (Op. 30) Walsh has once again petitioned for review. This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion and allow this long-delayed case to return on remand to a trial court judge who will apply the law and equitably divide the parties' property.

C. Why This Court Should Deny Review.

1. Walsh has no constitutionally-protected right to separate property on dissolution of the parties' domestic partnership, or that prohibits consideration of Reynolds' equitable interest in property acquired during their relationship.

Walsh voluntarily registered with Reynolds as domestic partners, and then asked the courts of this State to dissolve their partnership and "make a fair and equitable division of all the property." (Ex. 109, ¶ 1.9) This Court held many years ago that because separate property is available for distribution under RCW 26.09.080, neither party to a dissolution has a vested right in property subject to division. *Marriage of MacDonald*, 104 Wn.2d 745, 709 P.2d 1196 (1985). And even before *Marriage of Lindsey*, 101 Wn.2d

299, 304, 678 P.2d 328 (1984) overruled the *Creasman* presumption and developed the committed intimate relationship doctrine, this Court had recognized the community-like nature of property acquired by the parties while cohabiting before formalizing their relationship in marriage. *Marriage of Bodine*, 34 Wn.2d 33, 36-37, 207 P.3d 1213 (1949). This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is wholly consistent with this precedent and Walsh has no constitutionally-protected right to "her" separate property upon dissolution of the parties' domestic partnership.

This Court rejected Walsh's "takings" argument (Petition 6-9) in *MacDonald*, 104 Wn.2d at 750. The law prohibited division of military retired pay when the parties divorced in *MacDonald*, but was later changed to allow division of military retired pay. The husband argued that the new law could not be applied "retroactively" to his interest in military retired pay because it would "deprive[] him of property without due process as prohibited by the Fifth Amendment." *MacDonald*, 104 Wn.2d at 750. This Court rejected the argument as "without merit," noting "[u]nder state law, all property of a married couple, both separate and community, is subject to division by the court in a dissolution of their marriage. As

between husband and wife while married, neither has a vested right to their property." *MacDonald*, 104 Wn.2d at 750 (citation omitted).

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected Walsh's argument that Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc. v. Florida Dep't of Environmental Protection, 560 U.S. 702, 725, 130 S. Ct. 2592, 177 L. Ed. 2d 184 (2010) nevertheless supports the proposition that making "her" property subject to distribution on dissolution of the parties' domestic partnership would be a "judicial taking" in violation of the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. (Op. 23-25) The Supreme Court in Stop the Beach rejected a "takings" argument based on a change in regulations governing the claimant's supposed "vested rights" in property. And as Division Two recognized, Washington has never recognized "judicial takings in the context of equitable distribution of property following dissolution." (Op. 25)

The argument that the property rights of the individual in whose name property is titled are violated by an award of property to a cohabitant has never been an impediment to development of the committed intimate relationship doctrine, *e.g.*, *Marriage of Lindsey*, 101 Wn.2d at 304; *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339, 350, 898 P.2d 831 (1995), or to its application to same-sex relationships. *Vasquez v. Hawthorne*, 145 Wn.2d 103, 107, 33 P.3d 735 (2001);

Gormley v. Robertson, 120 Wn. App. 31, 37-38, 83 P.3d 1042 (2004); Relationship of Long/Fregeau, 158 Wn. App. 919, 925-26, ¶ 16, 244 P.3d 26 (2010). Community-like property interests arising in the course of a committed intimate relationship in equity do not violate "vested" rights, and dividing community-like property at the conclusion of the parties' committed intimate relationship would not be "'transferring her property' from Dr. Walsh to Ms. Reynolds." (Petition 7) Instead, "justly divid[ing] property the couple has earned during the relationship through their efforts" ensures "that one party is not unjustly enriched at the end of such a relationship." Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 350.

Nor does due process prohibit consideration of Reynolds' equitable rights in property acquired during her committed intimate relationship with Walsh. (Petition 9-15) Even if the parties had not been in a committed intimate relationship prior to registering as domestic partners, Walsh's claimed separate property was not "entitled to special treatment" upon the dissolution of their domestic partnership. *Marriage of Larson & Calhoun*, 178 Wn. App. 133, 140, ¶ 16, 313 P.3d 1228 (2013), rev. denied, 180 Wn.2d 1011 (2014).

Further, "due process does not prevent a change in the common law as it previously existed. There is neither a vested right

in an existing law which precludes its amendment or repeal nor a vested right in the omission to legislate on a particular subject." *Godfrey v. State*, 84 Wn.2d 959, 962-63, 530 P.2d 630 (1975). "The Fourteenth Amendment does not curtail a state's power to amend its laws, common or statutory, to conform to changes in public policy." *Godfrey*, 84 Wn.2d at 963. The committed intimate relationship doctrine was developed specifically to protect the economically disadvantaged partner in non-marital relationships, to ensure that "one party is not unjustly enriched at the end of such a relationship." *Connell*, 127 Wn.2d at 349.

The purpose of the committed intimate relationship doctrine was "to avoid inequitable results" under prior law, including this Court's decision in *Creasman v. Boyle*, 31 Wn.2d 345, 196 P.2d 835 (1948), which allowed the party in whose name property had been acquired to keep that property free of the claim of a cohabitant. *Connell*, 127 Wn.2d at 347. The *Creasman* presumption, which this Court overturned in *Lindsay*, 101 Wn.2d at 304, was originally created in a case in which an African-American man (unsuccessfully) sought an equity interest in property that had been titled in the name of the European-American woman with whom he cohabited; he could not purchase the property in his own name because of deed

restrictions. Motion for Reconsideration, *Creasman v. Boyle*, Cause No. 30446 (available in Court's archives). That sorry result was finally rectified when this Court overturned the presumption in *Lindsey*, yet Walsh in her petition essentially invokes the *Creasman* presumption for same-sex relationships.

The committed intimate relationship doctrine was developed precisely to prevent the result for which Walsh advocated in both her unsuccessful first appeal, and now. In her relentless quest to avoid any responsibility to her former domestic partner, with whom she lived and raised a family for over two decades, Walsh urges this Court to rely on homophobic laws, rightly declared unconstitutional, Obergefell v. Hodges, ___ U.S. ___, 135 S. Ct. 2584, 192 L. Ed. 2d 609 (2015), that prevented countless citizens from establishing a legal relationship with their long-term partners due solely to their sexual orientation. Walsh embraces a disgraceful interpretation of the committed intimate relationship doctrine to deny the same protections afforded economically disadvantaged partners in heterosexual relationships to same-sex partners, long after sexual orientation has ceased to be a reasoned basis for claiming a couple was not in a committed intimate relationship. Vasquez v. Hawthorne, 145 Wn.2d at 104, reversing 99 Wn. App. 363, 994 P.2d

240 (2000). This Court should reject Walsh's invitation to grant review in order to treat same-sex partners as second class citizens just so she can avoid sharing with Reynolds property acquired during their 23-year relationship.

2. The Washington Constitution would not require a different result and this issue has not been preserved for review.

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